#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 96,216

JOHN STEVEN HUGGINS,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

### CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Huggins was indicted by an Orange County, Florida, grand jury on May 28, 1998, for the first degree murder of Carla Larson. Huggins' motion for change of venue was granted, and the matter was transferred to Duval County, Florida, where trial began on January 25, 1999 (SR Vol 1). Huggins was convicted on the four counts charged in the indictment on February 3, 1999. (SR1605-08). The advisory jury recommended death by a vote of eight to four, and, on February 26, 1999, the trial court followed that recommendation and sentenced Huggins to death for the murder of Carla Larson. (SR2072).

Huggins filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Orange County Circuit Court on March 25, 1999, which claimed that the State had suppressed favorable evidence in violation of *Brady v. Maryland*. (R467). The trial court conducted a hearing on March 26, 1999, and, at the conclusion of that hearing, determined that an evidentiary hearing on the allegations contained in the petition was necessary. (R470-472). That hearing was conducted on May 21, 1999. (R24-383). On July 21, 1999, the trial court entered an order finding that the State had violated *Brady* and granting a new trial. (R808-827). The State gave notice of appeal on July 27, 1999. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The indictment charged Huggins with First Degree Murder, Carjacking, Robbery, and Kidnaping. (R440).

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ The jury returned its recommendation on February 10, 1999. (SR1947-48).

record was transmitted on December 22, 1999. On January 3, 2000, the State filed a motion to supplement the record to include the transcript of the testimony from Huggins' trial so that this Court would be able to properly evaluate the "favorable" evidence allegedly suppressed by the State.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In order to understand and properly evaluate the issues contained in the habeas petition, familiarity with certain guilt phase facts is necessary. Those facts are discussed below.<sup>3</sup>

#### THE GUILT PHASE FACTS

Carla Larson, the victim in this case, was employed by the Centex-Rooney construction company, and was assigned to the Coronado Springs Resort construction project on Walt Disney World property. (SR410). On June 10, 1997, Ms. Larson left her job site during her lunch hour to pick up some food items for a meeting scheduled for later that afternoon. (SR440-41). Another employee of Centex-Rooney gave Ms. Larson directions to the Publix grocery store located at the intersection of Highway 192 and International Drive. (SR441). A Publix receipt (which was stipulated into evidence) established that Ms. Larson made purchases at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For reasons that will be discussed at length, the whereabouts of witness Angel Huggins and the white Ford *Explorer* belonging to the victim are highly significant to this Court's review of the order granting relief because those facts, which are not controverted, conclusively establish that the allegedly "favorable" evidence simply cannot be true.

International Drive Publix at 12:12 PM on June 10, 1997. (SR456).

Ms. Larson drove a white Ford Explorer with leather seats, a radar detector permanently wired into it (ie: "hardwired"), a luggage rack, a wind deflector (or bug guard), running boards, and air conditioning controls in the back seat area. (SR416-18, 423). At least two people saw Ms. Larson leave the Coronado Springs job site driving that vehicle around lunch time on June 10, 1997; she was seen driving east on Highway 192, and was seen turning into the Publix parking lot. (SR446, 449-50, 598-99). When Ms. Larson did not attend the afternoon meeting, her fellow employees began to search for her. (SR598).4

Over the lunch hour, a white Ford *Explorer* matching the description of Ms. Larson's truck was seen on the Osceola Parkway, which is very close to the area of Highway 192 and International Drive. (SR416-17, 423, 588). Between 12:30 and 1:15 PM on June 10, 1997, a white Ford *Explorer* was seen hurriedly leaving the wooded area where Ms. Larson's body was eventually found. (SR461, 465, 472-73, 542, 547, 548-9, 584-85). The person seen driving the vehicle was described as a white male, with a dark tan and dark hair. (SR466, 469, 533-34, 542-44, 559). Ms. Larson's purse and its contents were later found on the highway right-of-way on a deserted part of Osceola Parkway where that roadway becomes World Drive --

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>At about 2:30 PM, various Centex-Rooney employees were heard talking on two-way radios about the fact that Ms. Larson was missing. (SR598).

this is the area where the *Explorer* was last seen. (SR421, 568-69, 571-74, 577).

On June 12, 1997, Ms. Larson's body was found wrapped in a blue towel, lying 80-100 feet off of the Osceola Parkway. (R603-10). Ms. Larson died as a result of strangulation, and pre-mortem injuries were observed that were consistent with attempted or actual sexual battery, (SR756-58, 762-63, 779). No "drag" marks or defensive wounds were present on her body, and all of her jewelry was missing. (SR761-62, 767-69, 414).

On June 8, 1997 (two days before Ms. Larson's disappearance), the defendant, John Huggins, his estranged wife, Angel, and their four children visited Gatorland in Kissimmee, Florida. (SR499-500, 644-45, 650, 1071). The Huggins family traveled in Angel Huggins' white Geo *Storm*, and stayed two nights in a hotel on Highway 192, a short distance from the Publix Ms. Larson went to on June 10, 1997. (SR499-501). Huggins and Angel got into an argument during the evening of June 9, and at about 9:45 AM on the morning of June

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This was the area where Ms. Larson's co-workers had been searching for her. Aerial photographs were introduced showing the route Ms. Larson traveled, the area in which her vehicle was later seen, and the proximity of the crime scene to Huggins' hotel. (SR786, 801, 827).

Ms. Larson's jewelry was eventually recovered from a storage shed located on the property of Huggins' former mother-in-law. Huggins had regular access to this out-building, and used it for storage. The jewelry was found in an electrical outlet box. (SR415-16, 425, 792, 1080, 1086, 1088).

10<sup>7</sup>, Huggins left the hotel on foot and did not return until after 2:00 PM. (SR503, 507, 510). When Huggins returned to the hotel room, he had a red bump or scratch on his forehead, was sweating and winded, and looked like he had been running. (SR633). Huggins cleaned up, and again left the hotel room on foot. (SR633-35). Angel Huggins and the children then left the hotel and drove back to Ms. Huggins' residence in Melbourne, Florida. (SR634-35, 652-53). Shortly after they arrived home in Melbourne, Huggins arrived at about 5:00 PM, driving a white Ford *Explorer* with a wind deflector on the front. (SR673, 416-17, 1071-73).

On the evenings of June 10 and June 11, 1997, Huggins stayed in hotels in the Melbourne area. (TR294). On either June 10 and 11, or June 11 and 12, Annette Moore, Angel Huggins' neighbor, saw a white Ford *Explorer* in the driveway of the Huggins' residence. (SR949-52, 957-58). Ms. Larson's vehicle was eventually recovered on June 26, 1997 — it had been sloppily painted black at some point in time before it was intentionally set on fire. (SR904, 907). Derek Hillyard, another neighbor, observed an *Explorer* with a poor black paint job in the Huggins' driveway on June 11, 1997 — that vehicle was similar to a white *Explorer* he had seen a day or two earlier. (SR958-59). One of Huggins' friends, Kevin Smith, allowed Huggins to park a white *Explorer* at Smith's house for a few days beginning on June 12, 1997. (SR985, 990, 992, 1046-47). That

 $<sup>^7</sup>$ The day of Ms. Larson's disappearance.

vehicle had a radar detector that was permanently wired into the vehicle (as did Ms. Larson's *Explorer*), and had a wind deflector mounted on the front. (SR987). That radar detector was later recovered from near Smith's house, and was traced back to the *Explorer*. (SR992, 995, 1022, 1007-08). On the day that the *Explorer* was burned, Huggins was staying with two friends in a condominium some 9 miles from the arson scene, and was absent from that location when the truck was set on fire. (SR970-74, 1038). Huggins' son reported riding in a black or dark-colored truck with a leather interior and which had air conditioning and radio controls in the back seat. (SR654-57).

After Huggins was arrested, a court order allowing the State to obtain head and pubic hair samples was issued -- Huggins shaved his head and pubic area, thus precluding any meaningful sampling. (SR1149-53). In a press interview, Huggins did not admit killing Ms. Larson -- however, he never denied the murder, and made several excuses for his inability to remember his whereabouts at the time Ms. Larson disappeared. (SR1159).

The jury returned its verdict on February 10, 1999, finding Huggins guilty of First Degree Murder, Carjacking, Robbery and Kidnapping. (R1948; SR2047). The jury recommended that he be sentenced to death, and, on February 26, 1999, the trial court imposed that sentence. (SR2072).

#### THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

At the May 21, 1999 evidentiary hearing on the habeas petition, the following evidence was presented:

John Natto<sup>8</sup> is employed at the Holiday Inn on International Drive in Orlando, Florida, as an accounting clerk. (TR51). He identified two registration cards which indicated that Angel Huggins checked in to the motel on June 14, 1997, and checked out on June 15, 1997. (TR53).

Dolores Ann Smith is a secretary with the Orange County State Attorney's Office. (TR70-71). She testified that she sent various e-mails to the trial prosecutors during the course of this case. (TR72-73).

Ronald Weyland is a crime scene investigator with the Orange County Sheriff's Office who was involved in the Huggins case. (TR78-79). He explained the difference between the typed "tip sheets" and the handwritten "lead sheets". (TR81). The witness recalled a request by Huggins' attorneys to review the physical evidence (TR79), but the typed or handwritten tip and lead sheets are not a part of the "evidence" that this witness would produce to counsel for the defendant. (TR81). Huggins' attorneys never asked to see the lead sheets. (TR83).

Pat Guice is an investigator for the Orange County State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The first seven witnesses were called by Huggins.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Reports prepared by investigators are not part of the evidence, anyway. (TR84).

Attorney's Office. (TR85-86). He was assigned to the Huggins case, and, on February 1, 1999, met with Preston Ausley and took a taperecorded statement from him. (TR87-89). That statement was transcribed, and the transcript is accurate. (TR90). Investigator Guice asked Ausley to return to the State Attorney's Office at 8:30 a.m. the next day (February 2, 1999) in case the trial attorneys needed to talk to him. (TR92). Ausley again appeared at the State Attorney's Office at 9:45 a.m. on February 2, and eventually spoke with one of the prosecutors involved in the trial. (TR94; 96). Ausley said that he came forward because he saw Angel Huggins on television on January 30, 1999. (TR100; 108).

Dan Nazarchuk was an investigator with the Orange County Sheriff's Office who was involved in the Huggins investigation. (TR113-114). During cross-examination by the State, Detective Nazarchuk identified the handwritten lead sheet (lead sheet 302) that was generated by him as a result of his June 16, 1997 interview of Ausley. (TR118-121). During that interview, Ausley described the driver of a white Ford Explorer as a white male in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The statement was taken in Orlando, where Ausley was employed, and where the Orange County State Attorney's Office is located. The case was being tried in Jacksonville (Duval County), and the trial was in progress at the time Ausley's statement was taken.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Ausley later testified that he was told to return at 10:00 on the following day. (TR225).

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ The January 30, 1999, date is based upon Ausley's statement, when interviewed on February 1, 1999, that he had seen Angel Huggins on television the "day before yesterday". (TR110).

his mid-to-late twenties with straight blonde hair above the shoulder. (TR124). Ausley did not report seeing the driver of the Explorer wearing sunglasses, and stated that he had seen the driver's left profile in the Explorer's left outside rear-view mirror. (TR124). Ausley reported that he saw the vehicle on June 12, 1997, and called law enforcement after seeing a news report about the crime (which apparently included a photo of a vehicle similar to the victim's) on June 14, 1997. (TR125). Ausley called law enforcement two days after the June 14 news report. (TR125). Ausley recalled all of the tag number on the Explorer except for the first letter, and recited it for Detective Nazarchuk. (TR125; 127). Ausley stated that he had written down the tag number, but did not have the piece of paper on which he had written it with him at the time he gave his statement. (TR126). Detective Nazarchuk contacted Ausley a few days later regarding the written tag number, but Ausley said that he could not find it. (TR135-6). Ausley was shown a composite drawing of the suspect, but stated that the drawing did not look like the person that he saw driving the Explorer. (TR128).

Ted Culhan was one of two Orange County Assistant State Attorneys assigned to the Huggins case. (TR139). He testified that he would have turned over the February 1 Ausley statement to defense counsel because of the reciprocal discovery rule and because it was his general practice to do so. (TR148-50). He did,

however, emphasize that he did not believe that Ausley's tape recorded statement amounted to *Brady* material. (TR148). Huggins' attorneys were aware of the existence of the handwritten investigative notes, and could have looked at those notes had they asked to do so. (TR162; 166; 189).

Preston Ausley testified that he went to the Orange County State Attorney's Office on February 1 "of last year" because he wanted to give them information about a woman he had seen on International Drive in 1997. (TR210-11). 13 Ausley testified that he had given that information to the Sheriff's Office but nothing had been done with it. (TR212). He saw Angel Huggins on television during the trial and thought that her hairstyle was similar to what he had seen in 1997. (TR212). Ausley testified that, in 1997, he had told a Sheriff's investigator that he had seen a woman driving a Ford Explorer with the tag number "they were looking for." (TR212). Ausley testified that he thought that he saw the vehicle the day after Carla Larson disappeared. (TR213). 14 Ausley testified that he wrote down the tag number of an Explorer after it cut him off in traffic, and that the evening news broadcast showed a tag number that looked familiar to him — he checked his note and all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Ausley testified in 1999 -- according to his testimony, he went to the State Attorney's Office in 1998, a sequence of events that is wholly inconsistent with any of the other testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The day after the victim in this case disappeared would be June 11, 1997.

but the first letter matched. (TR214-15). According to Ausley, he called the Sheriff's Office the next day, and an investigator arrived later that same morning to take his statement. (TR216). According to Ausley, the investigator did not want the piece of paper on which the tag number was written. (TR218). Ausley never told law enforcement that a male was driving the vehicle, and he was never shown a composite drawing of the suspect. (TR219).

Ausley testified that he saw Angel Huggins on television, and that her hair "reminded" him of the person that he saw in traffic in June of 1997. (TR220). He emphasized that he went to the State Attorney's Office because of the hairstyle and shape of the face of the person that he saw on the evening news, not because the person he saw on the news was Angel Huggins. (TR225).

Ausley testified that he told the trial prosecutor that he had seen the vehicle on June 11, 1997, and that he is assuming that is the date on which he saw the vehicle based upon information contained in an e-mail he received from an Orlando television station<sup>16</sup>. (TR237). That e-mail came from a different station than the one that carried the first broadcast about the victim's disappearance. (TR237). Ausley does not know when the first news story about the victim's disappearance was broadcast. (TR238). Ausley does not have the receipt on which he wrote the tag number

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>This would be June 12, 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Ausley "figured it was within a couple of days" based on the e-mail. (TR237).

of the vehicle that cut him off in traffic, and law enforcement never asked him for that piece of paper. (TR239-40). Ausley testified that the notes taken by law enforcement are wrong about the location and circumstances of his observations, the gender of the driver (Ausley testified that he never said the driver was male), the length of the driver's hair, and whether the driver had on sunglasses. (TR244-50). Ausley thinks the driver was a woman because of her small stature, and believes that he observed lipstick. (R253-54). Ausley admitted that his recall of events was better in 1997 than in 1999 (TR255), and emphasized that he has never said that Angel Huggins is who he saw in the Explorer. (TR260). Ausley testified that he never saw a composite of the suspect (TR263), and that he would not have been able to recite the tag number from memory in 1997 (TR275).

The defense then rested its case. (TR289).

Gordon Halliday is the manager of the Holiday Inn in Melbourne, Florida. (TR290-91). He testified that his records established that Huggins checked into the hotel on June 10, 1997. (TR294). Mr. Halliday also authenticated various telephone records of guest calls made from the Holiday Inn on June 10-11, 1997. (TR297).

Cameron Weir is an investigator with the Orange County Sheriff's Office. (TR305). He was the lead investigator in this case. (TR306). Detective Weir testified that the telephone calls

made by Huggins from the Melbourne Holiday Inn were to Angel Huggins' telephone number. (TR310-11).

Assistant Orange County State Attorney Jeff Ashton, who was one of the prosecutors in this case, testified that he was made aware of Ausley's existence by an e-mail that he received on February 1, 1999. (TR329-31). Mr. Ashton spoke with State Attorney's investigator Pat Guice on the morning of February 2, and eventually talked to Ausley that afternoon. (TR332-34). Ausley told Mr. Ashton that he had seen a white Ford Explorer driven by a white female with blonde hair on June 11, 1997. (TR335; 339). However, Ausley later told Mr. Ashton that he might have seen the Explorer on June 10, 1997. (TR340). Ausley stated to Mr. Ashton that he never saw the driver's face. (TR345). Mr. Ashton testified that he thought that the most likely explanation for Ausley's statement was that he had seen the victim on June 10, 1997, because, based upon the evidence in the case, Angel Huggins' whereabouts on the morning of June11, were well-established (TR338).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's grant of relief should be reversed because it is not supported by competent, substantial evidence. When the testimony from the evidentiary hearing on the habeas corpus petition is considered along with the trial testimony, the only possible conclusion is that, assuming the witness Ausley saw anyone driving the victim's vehicle, the person he observed was the victim, herself, not some other, unknown individual. By Ausley's own admission, he is "very bad with dates" and was unsure of the date on which he made his "observation." The evidence from trial demonstrates that the only date on which Ausley could have seen the victim's vehicle being driven by the individual he described was the morning of the victim's murder.

The trial court's grant of relief should also be reversed because Huggins cannot demonstrate that the state possessed favorable evidence, that the defendant could not obtain that evidence through reasonable diligence, that such evidence was suppressed by the state, and that, had such evidence been disclosed, there exists a reasonable probability of a different result.

Finally, the trial court's conclusion that there was a violation of *Brady v. Maryland* is in error because the court did not decide the issue of witness Ausley's credibility. Such a credibility determination is a necessary component part of the

issue before the trial court, and, because the trial court failed to decide that claim, the order granting relief is not based upon competent, substantial evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

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