IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.CASE NO. 96, 216

JOHN STEVEN HUGGINS,

Appellee.

_____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN
AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

Amended

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

*Amended as to font size only

TYRONE A. KING

Fla. Bar # 71382

126 E. Jefferson Street

Orlando, Florida 32801

(407) 849-1940

Co-counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's grant of relief should be affirmed because it is supported by competent substantial record evidence. The testimony and the evidence from the trial and evidentiary hearing were carefully considered by the trial judge only three months following the trial. The trial court properly applied the correct analysis under Brady v. Maryland, and entered a well-reasoned order granting a new trial.

The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly honored and recognized a trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact. This Court has repeatedly opined that, "This Court as an appellate body, has no authority to substitute its view of the facts for that of the trial judge when competent evidence exists to support the trial judge's conclusion." The trial court properly applied the correct law, its findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and therefore its grant of a new trial was not an abuse of discretion.

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANT OF A NEW TRIAL IS CORRECT AS A MATTER OF LAW AND IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

The record and the trial court's order indicate that the trial court properly applied the correct law and its ruling is supported by competent substantial evidence.

In the American adversary system for determining guilt or innocence, it is rarely justifiable for the prosecution to have exclusive access to a storehouse of relevant fact, and exceptions to this are justifiable only by the clearest and most compelling considerations. Dennis v. United States, 384 U.S. 855 (1966).

The prosecution has a duty to disclose evidence favorable to the accused that, if suppressed, would deprive the defendant, of a fair trial. United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985). This duty is grounded in the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution, The Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, and defined to a great extent in Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). This was a capital case in which the prosecution requested, and the trial court imposed the death penalty. Hence, heightened standards of due process apply. *See* Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla.1977) ("heightened" standard of review), Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 376 (1988) ("In reviewing death sentences, the Court has demanded even greater certainty that the jury's conclusions rested on proper grounds."), Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227, 1253 (11th Cir.1982) ("Reliability in the fact-finding aspect of sentencing has been a cornerstone of [the Supreme Court's death penalty] decisions."), and Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 638 (1988) (same principles apply to guilt determination). "Where a defendant's life is at stake, the Court has been particularly sensitive to insure that every safeguard is observed." Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976) (plurality opinion) (citing cases).

In Brady, Brady and a codefendant were charged with capital murder. Their cases were severed, and before trial, Brady's attorney requested that the prosecution allow him to examine the codefendant's extrajudicial statements. Brady, 373 U.S. 83, 84 (1963). Several of those statements were shown to him, but a particular statement in which the codefendant admitted actually committing the homicide himself was withheld by the prosecution and did not come to the attention of Brady's counsel prior to trial. At trial, Brady testified in his own defense and admitted his participation in the crime, but asserted that his codefendant had

done the actual killing. Id. It was only after Brady was convicted and sentenced that his attorney became aware of the codefendant's statement that had previously been withheld from him.

In much-cited language, the Supreme Court held, "that the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. The Brady doctrine was refined by the U.S. Supreme Court opinion in United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976).

Agurs went to trial asserting self-defense, and was convicted of second-degree murder. Three months after trial, defense counsel filed a motion for a new trial asserting that he had discovered that the victims had a prior criminal record that would have further evidenced his violent character, and that the prosecution had failed to disclose this information to the defense Id. at 100.

In Agurs, the Court explained that the Brady doctrine might arise in three different situations. The most extreme case is one in which the prosecution's case includes perjured testimony or its equivalent, and the prosecution knows or reasonably should know of the perjury. A different situation is one in which the defense makes a pretrial request for specific information. Finally, in a situation where the defense makes only a general request for pretrial discovery. The test for materiality would be at its most demanding under the third situation. Agurs, 427 U.S. at 112.

Again the Brady definition of materiality was refined in United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985). The refined definition explained that evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Bagley, 473 U.S. at 682. In ten years, the Court would again address the pesky issue of materiality.

Finally, with the addition of Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995), the Supreme Court added the fourth installment in the Brady doctrine, and again addressed materiality. The Kyles Court found that four aspects of materiality under Bagley required emphasis. First, "a showing of materiality does not require demonstration by a preponderance that disclosure would have resulted ultimately in the defendant's acquittal." Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. "The question is not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received

a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence. A ‘reasonable probability’ of a different result is accordingly shown when the government’s evidentiary suppression ‘undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial.’” Id. at 434; Bagley, 473 U.S. at 678. The second aspect of Bagley materiality addressed by the Kyles Court was the sufficiency of the evidence.

“It is not a sufficiency of the evidence test. A defendant need not demonstrate that after discounting the inculpatory evidence in light of the undisclosed evidence, there would not have been enough left to convict.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434-435. One shows a *Brady* violation by demonstrating that the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict. Id. at 435.

Third, once a reviewing court applying Bagley has found constitutional error there is no need for further harmless-error review. “Assuming, *arguendo*, that a harmless error enquiry were to apply, a Bagley error could not be treated as harmless, since ‘a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different,’ necessarily entails the conclusion that the suppression must have had ‘substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury’s verdict.’”¹ “In sum, once there has been Bagley error as claimed in Kyles, it cannot subsequently be found harmless.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 436.

The fourth and final aspect of Bagley materiality addressed its definition in terms of suppressed evidence considered collectively, not item-by-item. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 436.

The definitions of materiality under Brady, Agurs, Bagley, and Kyles have been fleshed out somewhat in Florida opinions which address the duties of a

¹Kyles at 435, *citing* Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 623 (1993) *quoting* Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 776 (1946).

prosecutor in determining whether evidence is material. In State v. Gillespie, the reviewing court adopted the reasoning of the Maryland State Court in Brady as follows:

As we see it the prosecutor should disclose to the defense such information as it has that may reasonably be considered admissible and useful to the defense in a sense that it is probably material and exculpatory....

227 So.2d 550 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969).

The Court went on to recite that “the ‘favorable evidence’ we are talking about is really that evidence which a reasonably skilled prosecutor should know could be fairly and probably used to advantage by the accused on the issues of guilt or innocence.” Id., *See also* Pitts v. State, 362 So.2d 147 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), where the court applied the same standard. Although the decision in Gillespie preceded the Supreme Court’s decision in Agurs and Bagley, both of which address the applicable standard on review, its language is surprisingly similar to the standard ultimately set by those decisions.

The various elements of the decisions interpreting *Brady* have been accumulated by the Florida Supreme Court into a precise definition.² This

²Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So.2d 107 (Fla.1995); *see also* Hunter v. State, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla.1995), where the Court used the following somewhat different elements: (1) that the undisclosed evidence actually exists; (2) that the evidence was suppressed; (3) that the evidence was exculpatory; and (4) that the defendant was prejudiced by the non-disclosure.

definition includes the following elements:

- that the State possessed evidence favorable to the defendant;
2. that the defendant did not possess the favorable evidence nor could he obtain it with any reasonable diligence;
3. that the State suppressed the favorable evidence; and
4. that had the evidence been disclosed to the defendant, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.

Melendez v. State, 612 So.2d 1366 (Fla.1992); Mendyk v. State, 592 So.2d 1076 (Fla.1992); Hegwood v. State, 575 So.2d 170 (Fla.1991).

Based on the United States Supreme Court decisions in Brady, Agurs, Bagley, and Kyles, Florida's caselaw interpreting those opinions, and the aforementioned four-prong analysis, the it is evident that the trial court properly applied the prevailing law and was completely within its discretion when it granted the Appellee a new trial.

On July 21, 1999, Judge Belvin Perry entered the Order Regarding Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus. The order is evidence that the trial judge properly applied the correct law. (TR 808-827). The trial court in the "Discussion" section of the order outlined the law applied to the facts presented at the evidentiary hearing, and the burden on the Defendant. (TR 811-812). The trial court noted that under Brady, and Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512 (Fla.1998), the Appellant had to show that:

- (1)...the Government possessed evidence favorable to

the defendant (including impeachment evidence); (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

(TR812). The trial court then applied the trial and evidentiary hearing evidence to each prong of the of the Brady analysis.

The State possessed evidence favorable to the defendant. Under the Florida analysis, the Defendant must first show that the State possessed evidence favorable to the Defendant. The trial court correctly ruled on the first element of a Brady claim. (TR812). To be favorable, the evidence must first be admissible and subject to the consideration of the trier of fact. Although the State contests the credibility of Mr. Ausley, the State failed to establish any evidentiary bars to the admissibility of the evidence which Mr. Ausley possessed. Further, favorable evidence is that evidence which a reasonably skilled prosecutor should know could be fairly and properly used to advantage by the accused on issues of guilt or punishment. Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla.1986); Smith v. State, 421 So.2d 146 (Fla.1982); State v. Connell, 478 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). If there is room for doubt as to whether or not evidence is exculpatory, it is generally improper for the prosecutor to decide

what is useful for the defense.³ If the exculpatory nature of the evidence is doubtful, the prosecutor should turn over his or her file to the court for a Brady inspection.⁴ The trial court made abundantly clear during the trial in this case the procedure by which such important matters could be brought to the attention of the court or opposing party. At the evidentiary hearing, prosecutor Jeff Ashton admitted having knowledge of the Court's availability and procedure for such matters. (TR 349).

In this case, Mr. Ausley's statement may have been used to impeach Angel Huggins, the State's key witness. (TR812). The trial court found that Mr. Ausley's statements and observations clearly conflict with Angel Huggins' testimony at trial. (TR812). "When the reliability of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence, nondisclosure of evidence affecting credibility falls within th[e] general rule [of Brady]." Bagley, 105 S. Ct. at 3381 (quoting Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972)). It is important to note the majority of the State's case stemmed from the assertion of Angel

³ Dennis v. U.S., 384 U.S. 855, 875 (1966) (determination of what may be useful to the defense can properly and effectively be made only by an advocate); U.S. v. Hibler, 463 F.2d 455 (9th Cir.1972) (prosecutor's failure to disclose police officer's statement which was consistent with his defense was reversible error).

⁴U.S. v. Lloyd, 992 F.2d 348 (D.C. Cir.1993)(case remanded for government to make a redetermination as to materiality of documents that its investigation produced, and any documents not turned over to the defendant should be reviewed *in camera*); U.S. v. Cadet, 727 F.2d 1453 (9th Cir. 1984); U.S. v. Griggs, 713 F.2d 672 (11th Cir. 1983); Hamric v. Bailey, 386 F.2d 390 (4th Cir.1967).

Huggins that John Huggins was in possession of a white Ford Explorer. Not only does Mr. Ausley's testimony conflict with that of Angel Huggins, the evidence tends to support the Appellee's assertion that Angel Huggins was involved, and that someone else was in possession of the white Ford Explorer. She attempted to gain credibility by stating that she was never inside the vehicle. (SR674). The State now argues in its Initial Brief that Angel Huggins was only referencing a specific day that she did not ride in the white Ford Explorer. At trial, the examination went as follows:

Now, at some point, did you ride in the car or
get in the car?

No.

That is the white Ford Explorer?

A. Right. No I did not.

(SR674). The record is clear, Ms. Huggins stated that she never rode in that vehicle. The evidence from Preston Ausley is favorable to the Defendant.

It is clear from his testimony that Mr. Ashton was aware that he should have thoroughly inspected the evidence before deciding to conceal it. Mr. Ashton did quite the contrary. He did not listen to Mr. Ausley's recorded statement prior to suppressing it.

Did you listen to the audiotape of the
statement made by Preston Ausley?

Ever or before that?

While we were in Jacksonville during the trial?

No.

Were you aware that the conversation had
been taped?

Yes.

(TR351). How can a prosecutor decide to conceal evidence from the defense because he has determined that it is not favorable, without ever listening to the evidence? It is disingenuous for the State to now argue that the prosecutor determined that Mr. Ausley's statement were not credible, and therefore not favorable, when the prosecutor had not listened to the recording prior to suppressing it. After carefully considering Mr. Ausley's testimony, the trial court found it to be favorable as required by Brady and Jones. (TR814). The trial court's ruling on the first prong of the Brady analysis is supported by competent substantial record evidence.

The second prong of Florida's *Brady* analysis was met by the Appellee during the evidentiary hearing. The Appellee did not possess Ausley's February 1, 1999 recorded statement nor could he have obtained it with any reasonable diligence. The state argues that Mr. Huggins could have discovered the substance of Mr. Ausley's statement if defense counsel had more fully

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